

e of Co	ntents
dminist	ration
10-1 10-2 10-3 10-4 10-5 10-6 10-7 10-8 10-9 10-10 10-11	Bylaws Rules of Procedure Library Director: Hiring, Evaluation, and Compensation Library Director: Expenditure Authority Non-Discrimination Advertising Posting and Distribution of Literature by Outside Organizations or Individuals Volunteer Program Confidentiality Agreements Prohibited Collaboration with Other Organizations Conflicts of Interest and Ethical Standards of Conduct for Elected and Appointed Commissioners of Grand Rapids Public Library
abor Re	lations
20-1 20-2 20-3 20-4 20-5	Terms of Employment and Collective Bargaining Professional Memberships and Training for Library Employees Tuition Reimbursement Program Employment of Relatives Electronic Equipment Use and Access
inance/l	Purchasing
30-1 30-2 30-3	Library Fees and Fines Fundraising and Development Purchasing and Contracts
ibrary A	sset and Facilities Management
40-1 40-2 40-3 40-4 40-5 40-6 40-7	Asset Management Real Estate Transactions Collection Development Policy Gifts to the Library: Acceptance and Deaccession Smoke- and Vape-Free Facility and Grounds Meeting Room Policy Library Hours
	dminist 10-1 10-2 10-3 10-4 10-5 10-6 10-7 10-8 10-9 10-10 10-11 abor Re 20-1 20-2 20-3 20-4 20-5 inance/I 30-1 30-2 30-3 ibrary A 40-1 40-2 40-3 40-4 40-5 40-6

50 | Library Privacy and Freedom of Information

- 50-1 Circulation Records
- Public Records: Freedom of Information 50-2

60 | Patron Rules

- 60-1 Patron Rules and Responsibilities
- 60-2 Internet Access



Policy 10-1 Bylaws

ARTICLE I PURPOSE AND AUTHORITY

Section 1. These Bylaws are adopted by the Grand Rapids Board of Library Commissioners (the "Board" herein), an entity organized under the authority of the City Charter of the City of Grand Rapids ("City Charter" herein). The purpose and mission of the Board shall be: "inspiring opportunity, connection, and innovation."

Section 2. The Board shall have the entire management and control of the Public Library of the City of Grand Rapids and of all property and assets belonging thereto devoted to or intended for Library purposes. (City Charter Paragraph 230.)

Section 3. The board may employ in its management of the library, a librarian and such other employees as it may determine, and fix their salaries. It may purchase such books and apparatus for the use of the library as it may find necessary, and may do everything necessary to maintain the library, building and grounds and increase its usefulness. For these purposes it may establish, amend or repeal rules and regulations in any manner not inconsistent with City Charter Title XIII. (City Charter Paragraph 235.)

Section 4. The Board of Library Commissioners (BOLC) of the City of Grand Rapids is comprised of a diverse and varied group of individuals, each holding unique and independent positions on a variety of issues. All Commissioners are encouraged to seek opportunities to champion the library's programs and policies. When appearing at a public forum, attending meetings, or addressing any individual, or group of individuals in any public or private setting, each Commissioner should clearly indicate whether they are speaking only on their own behalf, or as a representative of the BOLC. No Commissioner is authorized to act or speak on behalf the BOLC, or to represent themselves as acting or speaking on behalf of the BOLC, unless they have been specifically authorized to do so by a majority vote of the BOLC.

Section 5. Where directed or deemed appropriate, the director shall develop and maintain procedures and/or guidelines for administering board policies. The director shall be responsible for maintaining an up-to-date procedures manual which shall be reviewed annually and shared with all staff. All procedures should be supported by board polices.

ARTICLE II ELECTION AND ELIGIBILITY OF COMMISSIONERS TO SERVE

Section 1. Election of Library Commissioners. The Board of Library Commissioners of the City of Grand Rapids shall be composed of seven elected members. (City Charter Paragraph 230.) Library Commissioners shall be elected as provided for by law and City Charter for a term of six (6) years and until each Commissioner's successor is elected and qualified. Notice of the election shall be given as provided for by law. (City Charter Paragraph 229.) The election of members of the Board of Library Commissioners shall be at the odd year general election except as otherwise provided for in City Charter. The result of the vote shall be canvassed and declared in the same manner as in the case of other City Officers. (City Charter Paragraph 231.)

Section 2. Eligibility to Serve as Library Commissioner. Any qualified elector meeting the eligibility requirements for elective city office set out in Title II, Section 4 of City Charter shall be eligible for election as a Library Commissioner. Nominations shall be in the same manner as nomination for other city offices and nominating petitions shall be as provided for in Title III, Section 5 of the City Charter. (City Charter Paragraph 232.)

Section 3. Eligibility for Elective City Office, Generally. A candidate for any elective office of the city shall be a resident of the city for six months or more immediately prior to the last day for filing petitions for office and shall be a registered and qualified elector of the city at the time of filing petitions for office. An appointee to any vacancy in any elective office of the city shall be a resident of the city for six months or more immediately prior to the date of appointment, and shall be a registered and qualified elector of the city at the time of appointment. Term limits established by the City of Grand Rapids Charter Amendment for the Mayor and City Commissioners do not extend to the Board of Library Commissioners. (City Charter, Title II, Section 4, Paragraph 9.1)

Section 4. Commitment to Serve Without Compensation. At each January Board meeting or at the first meeting of an appointed term, Board members shall sign the "Voluntary Commitment to Serve" form. No member of the library board shall receive any compensation for his or her services in connection with their office. (City Charter Paragraph 234.)

Section 5. Removal from Office. Any member of the Board of Library Commissioners may be removed by the board for official misconduct or for unfaithful or improper performance of the duties of their office or for ineligibility. (City Charter Title V Paragraph 73 Section 24.a.) A copy of the charges against such commissioner and notice of the time and place of hearing same shall be served on them at least ten days previous to the date assigned for hearing. If personal service cannot be had, the same shall be left at his place of residence within the city, with some suitable person of proper age, or other substituted service may be had. Opportunity shall be given them to make their defense. A majority vote of the board shall be necessary to remove such commissioner. (City Charter Title V Paragraph 73 Section 24.b.)

Section 6. Announcement of Intent to Seek Additional Term. At each January Board meeting in a year when new Board members will be elected, Board members whose terms are expiring should, as a courtesy, indicate to the Board whether they will be seeking an additional Term. Should a Library Commissioner be unable to fulfill the responsibilities of office, including attendance at board meetings, he or she should send a letter of resignation to the president of the Grand Rapids Board of Library Commissioners as soon as possible. This will allow for a smooth transition in filling the vacancy with minimal disruption.

Section 7. Vacancies. In case of the death, resignation, removal, or relocation from the city of any Library Commissioner, his or her position shall become vacant and the vacancy shall be filled by election by the remainder of the board for a term continuing for the remainder of the unexpired term and until his successor is elected and qualifies; provided, that if a regular non-partisan primary election occurs in the interim, 12 months or more after the happening of the vacancy, an officer shall be elected to fill the unexpired term. (City Charter Paragraph 233.) The Director shall publicize in each election year the number of seats up for election, the deadline date for filing petitions and information on contacting the City Clerk. Publicity shall be widely circulated.

Section 8. Employment of Commissioners by the Library. No currently seated Board member may apply for or be hired to fill a position at the Grand Rapids Public Library. A Board member who wishes to apply for a position with the library must first resign from the Board.

Section 9. Orientation. Orientation for new Board Members will be arranged by the president of the board.

ARTICLE III MEETINGS

Section 1. Open Meetings. Except as permitted by law, meetings of the Board (including committee meetings) shall be open to the public, shall be held in a place available to the general public, and shall otherwise be conducted in compliance with the Michigan Open Meetings Act, being MCL 15.261 et. seq.

Section 2. Regular Meetings. The Board shall meet in regular session on the last Tuesday of each Month at a time and location to be determined by the Board. The Board shall, at least annually, adopt by resolution a schedule of its regular meetings showing the dates, times and locations of such meetings.

Section 3. Special Meetings. The president of the board may call a special meeting as deemed necessary by the president. Special meetings shall be conducted in compliance with the Michigan Open Meetings Act, being MCL 15.261 et. seq.

Section 4. Conduct of Meetings. Meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the Standing Rules adopted by the Board.

Section 5. Official Board Business. No official board business will be conducted via email; only at Board Meetings.

ARTICLE IV OFFICERS

Section 1. Officers. Annually on the first Monday after their election, the board shall organize by electing one of its members President and one of its members Vice-President/Secretary. (City Charter Paragraph 234.) For purposes of this Section, "the first Monday after their election" shall mean the first regularly scheduled meeting of the Board following certification of the election by the Kent County Board of Canvassers. This interpretation is necessary because the Board does not regularly meet on Mondays, and the election results are not finalized until so determined by the Board of Canvassers.

The officers shall serve a term of one year beginning at the regular meeting of the Board held in January, and shall continue to serve until the following December meeting. Should either the office of President or Vice-President/Secretary become vacant during the officer's term, the Board shall elect a successor for the remainder of the unexpired term at the next regular meeting of the Board following the occurrence of such vacancy.

Section 2. President. The president shall preside at all meetings of the Board, authorize calls for any special meetings, appoint all committees, execute all documents authorized by the Board, serve as ex-officio member of all committees, and generally perform all duties associated with the office of president.

Section 3. Vice-President/Secretary. The Vice-President/Secretary will assume and perform the duties of the president in the event of absence or disability of the president.

Section 4. Recording Secretary. Except as provided herein, the Library Director or his or her designee shall serve as the Board's Recording Secretary, and shall keep minutes of all meetings of the Board, consistent with the Michigan Open Meetings Act. For closed sessions of the Board conducted under authority of the Michigan Open Meetings Act, the City Attorney or his or her designee shall serve as Recording Secretary.

ARTICLE V FINANCES

Section 1. Custodian of Funds. The City Treasurer shall be the custodian of the funds of the Board and all bills incurred by it shall be allowed by the Board and certified to the City Comptroller to be audited and paid from the Library Fund. (City Charter Title XIII, Paragraph 234.)

Section 2. Fines and Penalties. All fines and penalties which by law are devoted to Library purposes shall hereafter be paid into the City Treasury for the purposes of the Board. (City Charter Paragraph 236.)

Section 3. Gifts. On behalf of the library, the board is hereby authorized to receive gifts, devises or bequests of real or personal estate, for the library or any matters connected therewith. The Board is hereby authorized to carry out in connection with any such gifts any trust or trust conditions that may be attached thereto in like manner as any other trustee. All gifts, devises or bequests for the benefit of the library, shall be subject to the same control and management by the Board of Library Commissioners as the original library committed to its care, provided however, that trust funds shall be paid to and invested by the Trustees of the Sinking Fund. (City Charter Paragraph 237). Absent sufficient appointees to constitute a quorum of the Trustees of the Sinking Fund, funds shall be invested in accordance with the Michigan statutes relative to the investment of funds of public corporations, the City Commission ordinance on investments, and the City Commission policy governing the investment of city funds.

Section 4. Funds for Support of Library. There shall be placed in the budget annually for the maintenance and running expenses of the library, two-fifths of a mill of the assessed value of the property of the city, and such further sum as may be determined by the City Commission in making up its budget from year to year. The City Commission may provide from time to time such temporary funds for the purposes of the Board as it deems necessary. (City Charter Paragraph 238). Additional dedicated mills authorized by a vote of the people of the City of Grand Rapids shall also be placed in the budget annually for the purposes for which the mills are authorized.

Section 5. Report to City Commission. Annually the Board or its designee shall present to the City Commission its report containing a full detailed statement of all monies received and expended and such facts and recommendations regarding the library as the board shall deem proper. (City Charter Paragraph 239).

ARTICLE VI COMMITTEES

Standing Committees. Standing Committees of the board shall be comprised of no more than three (3) Board members, and shall be appointed by the president. The Library Director shall be represented at all Committee meetings. Reports of the standing committees shall be advisory, and shall be presented to the board upon request of the president.

Ad Hoc Committees. The president of the board may establish and appoint ad hoc committees of the Board, as deemed necessary by the president. Membership on advisory committees may include no more than three (3) members of the Board, and may also include others who possess particular knowledge, expertise or interest in the subject matter for which the committee is formed.

ARTICLE VII LEGAL ACTIONS

Whenever necessary for the enforcement of the powers, rights and privileges conferred upon the Board, or for the protection of the property placed in its charge, the Board may, in the name of the City of Grand Rapids, institute in any court of competent jurisdiction, an action at law or in equity. In all suits on behalf of the Board it shall be represented by the City Attorney. (City Charter Paragraph 240).

ARTICLE VIII AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

These bylaws may be amended at any regular meeting by a majority vote of the Board, provided that the amendment has been submitted in writing at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of any such meeting, or at the previous regular meeting.

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: November 26, 2019



Policy 10-2
Rules of Procedure

SECTION I – COMMISSION AND DUTIES

Rule 1 – The regular meetings of the Board shall be as established by the By-laws of the Board in compliance with Title XIII of the City Charter. Special meetings shall be held as permitted by the By-Laws of the Board.

Rule 2 – The president of the board shall open the meeting at the time as provided in the calendar approved by the Board, and as required by the By-laws by taking the chair and calling the members to order; by announcing the business before the assembly in the order in which it is to be acted upon; by recognizing members entitled to the floor; by stating and putting to a vote all questions which are regularly moved, or necessarily arise in the course of the proceedings, and by announcing the results of the vote. He or she shall preserve order and decorum, decide on all questions of order and conduct of proceedings. The president shall appoint all committees subject to the approval of the Board.

Rule 3 – Any request for work product from staff shall be made through or authorized by a majority vote of the Board and conveyed to the Director.

Rule 4 – Email and other communications issued by Board members are public records, and may be subject to disclosure according to the Michigan Freedom of Information Act, being MCL 15.231 et. seq.

SECTION II - ORDER OF BUSINESS

Rule 1 – The regular order of business shall be as follows: (Agenda items requiring action will be noted by use of an A)

- A. Roll Call
- B. Public Comments on Agenda Items
- C. Minutes approval
- D. Board Comments
- E. Committee Reports
- F. Other Reports
- G. Staff & Foundation Reports
- H. Old Business
- I. New Business
- J. Information Items
- K. GREIU
- L. Agenda Items for Next Regular Board Meeting
- M. Public Comments

Rule 2 – No items should be considered unless presented to the Library Director prior to two weeks prior to the meeting at which they are to be presented.

Rule 3 – The Library Director and Board President shall prepare the agenda including the Agenda Calendar. The board packet, including the agenda, will be sent to each board member at least one week before a regular meeting.

SECTION III – DECORUM AND DEBATE

Rule 1 – Speaking – When a member wishes to speak, he or she shall address himself or herself to the president and shall wait to speak until he or she has been recognized by the president.

Rule 2 – Precedence in speaking – When two or more members address the president at or about the same time, the president shall designate by recognition, the first speaker.

Rule 3 - Voting

- A. All members of the board present shall vote on a question when his or her name is called, unless excused by consent of a majority of the remaining members present; however,
- B. No member of the board shall vote on any question in which he or she has a conflict of interest, or on any question concerning his or her conduct.
- C. Any member of the board may demand a roll call vote on any question before the decision is announced by the president.
- D. Except as otherwise provided, an affirmative vote of the majority of all members of the board present and constituting a quorum is necessary to approve any action before the board. Approval of board policies; contractual agreements, exceeding amounts delegated to Executive staff; salary changes; hiring of a library director; and approval of the annual budget, requires four affirmative votes for passage.
- E. A roll call vote is required to enter into closed session.

Rule 4 - Motions and Resolutions

- A. The president of the board, at his or her discretion, shall determine whether any motion or resolution must be presented in writing; except that motions to adjourn, postpone, table, remove from table, commit or take from Committee shall not require a written motion.
- B. Non-agenda matters shall not be discussed without the consent of a majority of the board elect.
- C. When a motion has been made, the president shall immediately state the question or shall have such question read by the Recording Secretary.
- D. A second shall be requested by the president, or any member of the board, on any motion.

Rule 5 – Debating a Motion

A. In the debate, each member has a right to speak twice on the same question on the same day (except on an appeal), but cannot make a second speech on the same day (except on an appeal), on the same question so long as any other member who has not

- spoken on the question desires the floor. No one shall speak longer than five minutes without permission of the board.
- B. While a question is under debate, no motion shall be received unless to postpone, table, amend, substitute, commit or adjourn, which motion shall require a second.

Rule 6 – Question – When the debate appears to have closed, the president shall ask, "Are you ready for the question?" In all such cases, the president shall state the question.

Rule 7 – Division of a Question – On demand of any member before the question is put, a question may be divided if it includes propositions so distinct in substance that on being taken away a proposition shall remain. The motion may be amended, or a subsidiary motion applied to it, but such amendment or subsidiary motions are not debatable.

Rule 8 – Reconsidering a Question – When a question has been taken, it shall be in order for any member who voted with the prevailing side to move for reconsideration thereof at the same or succeeding meeting, but no question shall be reconsidered without the consent of two-thirds of the members of the board.

Rule 9 – Adjournment – A motion to adjourn takes precedence over all others; it is not debatable, nor can it be amended or have any other subsidiary motion applied to it, nor can a vote on it be reconsidered. It may be withdrawn.

Rule 10 – Suspension of the Rules – A motion to suspend the rules may be made at any time when no question is pending, or while a question is pending, provided it is for a purpose connected with the question. Suspension of the rules may be accomplished by a majority vote of the board present. A motion to suspend shall require a second.

Rule 11 – Speaking from the Floor

- A. No person shall address the board without the recognition and approval of the president or presiding officer.
- B. Each person receiving permission to address the board shall clearly give his or her name and if appropriate, group affiliation. Any recognized speaker who refuses to so identify himself or herself shall be denied the opportunity to address the board by the president or presiding officer.
- C. All persons addressing the board shall limit their remarks to a duration of three minutes; provided, however, that in the judgment of the president or presiding officer the time period may be extended if the person speaking is representing several other persons in attendance who, therefore, do not intend to speak themselves; or may be shortened to not less than two minutes if, in the judgment of the president or presiding officer, the number of persons desiring to speak and the constraints of time make it impracticable for all persons to speak if each is given three minutes.
- D. Any person making impertinent, slanderous, or profane remarks or who engages in threatening or abusive language or conduct shall be in breach of proper decorum. If such person continues to breach decorum after being warned by the president or presiding officer, he or she may be removed from the meeting.

SECTION IV - SUSPENSION, AMENDMENT, OR RESCISSION OF THE RULES

Rule 1 – At any legal meeting, these rules may be suspended by a majority vote of members present or they may be amended or rescinded by a majority of the members elect.

Rule 2 – The Roberts Rules of Order, revised, may be consulted and considered rules of the board on matters not specifically covered by these rules.

SECTION V - ANNUAL REVIEW OF BYLAWS, POLICIES, AND PROCEDURES

Rule 1 – The board shall review the bylaws and policies annually and reaffirm by vote at the January meeting.

Rule 2 – The Library Director shall maintain an up-to-date procedures manual compliant with board policies. This manual will be reviewed by staff at least once a year and follow the Board's reaffirmation of its Policy Manual.

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: November 26, 2019



Policy 10-3

Library Director: Hiring, Evaluation, and Compensation

The Board of Library Commissioners has the sole authority and responsibility for establishing and maintaining the job description for the Library Director, hiring the Library Director, establishing compensation for the Library Director, evaluating the Library Director and disciplining the Library Director, including firing.

The Board of Library Commissioners in consultation with appropriate counsel will have the responsibility for maintaining a current contract with the Library Director.

Compensation for the Library Director's position will be established at the time of hiring and at stated interval(s) provided by contract. Special consideration of circumstances arising during the term of the contract may be requested by either the Library Director or the Board of Library Commissioners.

The evaluation of the Library Director will be conducted annually by the Board of Library Commissioners at a time established by the board. Procedures for this evaluation will be provided by the board in consultation with the Library Director and maintained by the board. The evaluation will be the basis for continued review of the job description and contract between the board and the Library Director. (See Exhibit A)

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 91-4

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: September 24, 2019 Grand Rapids Public Library Board of Library Commissioners 111 Library Street NE, Grand Rapids, MI 49503

Library Director Evaluation

The Grand Rapids Public Library Board of Library Commissioners will conduct an annual formal, written evaluation of the Library Director. The Director will meet with the Evaluation Committee after six months for an informal check-in, subject to more frequent check-ins at the request of the Director or Committee.

Purposes of the Evaluation

- To assess the Director's satisfaction of their annual goals.
- To provide the Director with clear understanding of the Board's expectations.
- To ensure the Director and the Board are aware of how well the expectations are being met.
- To identify the Board's concerns, if any, so that appropriate action can be taken.
- To demonstrate sound management practices and accountability to the Library staff and the community.

Ratings and Definitions:

- 5 Outstanding: The Director's performance consistently exceeds performance expectations.
- 4 Highly Effective: The Director meets and frequently exceeds performance expectations.
- **3 Effective:** The Director consistently meets performance expectations and performs in a professional and competent manner.
- **2 Needs Improvement:** The Director meets only minimally acceptable levels of performance; the Director requires additional direction from the Board.
- 1 Unacceptable: The Director does not meet performance expectations; the Director requires significant additional direction and/or constant supervision from the Board; immediate attention and improvement required.

N/A Not applicable to this situation.

Please rate the Library Director in the following areas using the above scale 5 (highest) to 1 (lowest) or N/A (Not Applicable) where appropriate:

1.	Relationships with Board of Library Commissioners				
	Keeps the Board informed on issues, needs, and operations of library.				
	Reports to the Board regularly on library operations, activities, opportunities, and problems.				
	Offers professional advice to the Board on items requiring Board action, with appropriate recommendations based on thorough study and analysis.				
	Recommends to the Board plans, policies and technological improvements relating to library operations.				
	Supports and executes Board policy and communicates it to public and staff.				
	Seeks and accepts constructive criticism of work.				
	Seriously considers and/or acts on Board's suggestions.				
Comn	nents:				
2.	Implementation of Board Decisions Board decisions are implemented on a timely basis.				
	Director displays initiative.				
	Director is objective in making necessary decisions.				
	Director is consistent in decisions that affect the staff and/or public.				
	Director fully supports Board decisions.				
	Director sets an example for the staff through professional conduct, high principles, and a business-like approach.				
Comn	nents:				

3.	Establishing and Implementing Our Priorities					
	Provides leadership in developing long- and short-term goals to carry out the library's strategic framework.					
	Director's recommended priorities are in concert with the library's strategic framework.					
	Priorities appropriately reflect community needs. Priorities reflect advanced planning.					
	Director implements the long- and short-term goals of the library's strategic framework.					
	Director's accomplishments reflect and relate to the long- and short-term goals of the library's strategic framework.					
	Provides adequate information to the Board on the implementation and revision of short- and long-term planning.					
Comn	ments:					
4.	Administrative Duties					
4.	Oversees and administers the activities of the library.					
	Proposes and helps staff initiate new programs and services.					
	Develops and carries out library procedures.					
	Develops and presents an appropriate budget to the Board.					
	Alternative funding sources are explored and applied for as appropriate.					
	Negotiates and oversees contracts held by the library, including regional and state service contracts.					
	Oversees the application for and implementation of grants with the participation of staff.					
	Effectively communicates library services to the public.					
	Ellectively communicated library derivided to the public.					
Comn	ments:					

5.	Professional Development				
	Attends relevant conferences, meetings, workshops, and seminars. Shares knowledge gained with the Board and other appropriate individuals.				
	Demonstrates to the staff and to the Board an awareness of new services, programs, resource materials, and technological developments, and their potential impact on Library.				
Comi	ments:				
6.	Managing Library Staff				
	Maintains positive management/staff relations.				
	Fairly and equitably administers Board and library policies.				
	Appropriately and timely addresses grievances when they are filed.				
	Encourage staff to maintain an awareness of technological advances in the profession.				
	Adequately justifies the need for staff development funds, actively campaigns for such funds, and adequately accounts for the use of such funds.				
Comi	ments:				

Т	ho Diractor davala						
	THE DIFFICION GEVELO	ps and maintai	ns relations v	with governmer	ntal officials.		
Т	he Director develo	ps and maintai	ns relations v	with community	members and	d organizations.	
Т	The Director develops and maintains relations with the Library Foundation and Friends of the Library.						
Т	The Director is visible to large segments of the population.						
Т	he Director is avail	able for speak	ing engagem	ents in the con	nmunity.		
mmer	nts:						
-							
D	irector's Goals						
	he Director achieve	ed their annua	goals.				
ommer	nte:						
OHIHICI	113.						
Board Relation		Priorities	Duties	Professional Development	Management	Community Development	Goals
Board Relation		Priorities	Duties	Professional Development	Management	Community Development	Goals

Approved by the Board of Library Commissioners on: _____



Policy 10-4

Library Director: Expenditure Authority

In addition to the purchasing authority granted to the Library Director in Purchasing Policy 30-3, the Board of Library Commissioners authorizes the Library Director to expend funds within the library's approved budget for all board expenses for meetings which may include refreshments, meals, board recognition and appreciation, and other miscellaneous expenses as appropriate to conduct the business of the board, and that these expenditures will be budgeted annually and paid for by the Comptroller's office.

The board authorizes the Library Director to expend funds for staff functions including, but not limited to, meetings with staff, retirements, awards, staff recognition and appreciation, and special events, and that these expenditures will be budgeted annually and paid for by the Comptroller's office.

The board authorizes the Library Director to expend funds for meetings and other functions as required to promote the library and its services, within the community, and that these expenditures will be budgeted annually and paid for by the Comptroller's office.

The board authorizes the Library Director to send a floral or similar tribute upon the death of a staff or board member or immediate family member (defined here as spouse or significant other, mother, father, or child).

In the event of any conflict between this policy and any policy promulgated by the City of Grand Rapids, it is the intent of the Board of Library Commissioners that this policy shall control.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 97-3

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: November 26, 2019



Policy 10-5 Non-Discrimination

The Grand Rapids Public Library shall provide an open and welcoming environment for all regardless of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, disability, age, marital status, sexual orientation, veteran status, or gender expression/identity.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 12-6

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: August 27, 2019



Policy 10-6 Advertising

Advertising conducted by the Grand Rapids Public Library is will be produced in the most prudent manner possible.

The Library Director will develop guidelines and procedures to implement this policy.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 02-03

Adopted: November 26, 2019



Policy 10-7 Posting and Distribution of Literature by Outside Organizations or Individuals

The Grand Rapids Public Library may display posters, flyers, etc. to publicize events sponsored by or for the benefit of non-profit organizations (formal or informal). All proposed postings must be approved by the Communications department. Obscene material, defamatory material, or material that is otherwise illegal may not be posted.

The Library Director shall develop guidelines to implement this policy.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 90-2

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: November 26, 2019



Policy 10-8 Volunteer Program

Staff will maintain procedures for addressing volunteer opportunities. A roster of all volunteers will be maintained with emergency contact information. All rules of conduct for staff shall also apply to volunteers.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 91-2

Adopted: November 26, 2019



Policy 10-9 Confidentiality Agreements Prohibited

In keeping with the mission statement of the Grand Rapids Public Library, and consistent with the trust placed in each Library Commissioner by the voters, it is the policy of the Board of Library Commissioners to conduct its business in a manner of openness and transparency, and to maintain such transparency consistent with the laws of the state of Michigan, including the Michigan Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and Open Meetings Act (OMA). Accordingly, no Library Commissioner acting in his or her official capacity shall enter into a confidentiality agreement. In addition, no Library Commissioner acting in his or her official capacity shall offer to accept or review any written information provided by any person, organization, or business entity under a promise of confidentiality.

The response to any written request for information submitted to the Board of Library Commissioners under the Michigan Freedom of Information Act shall be issued in a manner consistent with the FOIA, being Public Act 442 of 1976, as amended.

The business of the Board of Library Commissioners shall be conducted in a manner consistent with the Michigan Open Meetings Act, being Public Act 267 of 1976, as amended.

Adopted: November 20, 2012



Policy 10-10 Collaboration with Other Organizations

The Board of Library Commissioners may enter into cooperative agreements with non-profit organizations and governmental agencies whose primary purpose is compatible with the mission of the Grand Rapids Public Library, and who provide a direct service to the citizens of Grand Rapids. The purpose of such agreements would be to form partnerships with such non-profits or governmental agencies in order to deliver quality library-related services to the citizens of Grand Rapids. The Library may contribute the following services under such an agreement:

- 1. Staff consulting and assistance.
- 2. Books and other library materials.
- 3. Equipment and technology support.
- 4. The temporary use of library facilities.
- 5. Operating support not to exceed the value of services received excluding salaries and benefits.

Non-profit organizations or governmental agencies seeking to collaborate with the library must contact the Library Director in writing and submit a proposal. The Director may bring such application to the attention of the board and provide a recommendation. No cooperative agreement contemplated by this policy shall be valid unless presented to the board with the recommendation of the Director, and approved by a majority vote of the board.

Any proposal submitted under this policy must:

- 1. Be submitted by an eligible entity having an organizational purpose compatible with the mission of the library.
- 2. Demonstrate that such collaborative effort will inure an obvious benefit to the taxpayers of Grand Rapids, and patrons of the library.
- 3. Demonstrate that the service provided via such agreement would be one that could appropriately be provided as a direct library service.
- 4. Demonstrate that the service will benefit the community as a whole and be open to all citizens of the City of Grand Rapids.
- 5. Demonstrate that the service shall not be provided as a grant or gift of public resources by the library.
- 6. Demonstrate that the organization is a governmental unit or a tax-exempt non-profit organization under the Internal Revenue Code and must be authorized by law to operate in the State of Michigan.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 97-1

Adopted: November 20, 2012



Policy 10-11 Conflicts of Interest and Ethical Standards of Conduct for Elected and Appointed Commissioners of Grand Rapids Public Library

Section 1. Fair and Equal Treatment. No elected or appointed Library Commissioner shall request, use or permit the use of any consideration, treatment, advantage, or favor beyond that which is the general practice to grant or make available to the public at large. All elected and appointed Library Commissioners shall treat all citizens of the city with courtesy, impartiality, fairness, and equality under the law.

Section 2. Use of Public Property. No elected or appointed Library Commissioner shall request, use or permit the use of any publicly owned or publicly supported property, vehicle, equipment, material, money, labor, or service for the personal convenience or the private advantage of self or any other person or entity including his or her employer. This requirement shall not be deemed to prevent any elected or appointed Library Commissioner from requesting, using or permitting the use of such publicly owned or publicly supplied property, vehicle, equipment, material, labor, or service which is made available by general practice to the public at large, or which is provided, as a matter of public policy for the use of the elected and appointed Library Commissioners in the conduct of official business, as approved consideration for their services to the city.

Section 3. Matters Requiring Disclosure of Conflicts of Interest, Actual and Potential. The following disclosure requirements are established to avoid both actual and potential conflict between the private self-interest and the public interest of elected and appointed Library Commissioners:

- A. <u>Self Interest</u>. No elected or appointed Library Commissioner, either on his or her behalf or on behalf of any other person, shall have an interest in any business transaction with any public body of the city, unless the person shall first make full disclosure of the nature of such interest.
- B. <u>Rule of Necessity</u>. When the performance of official duties shall require, pursuant to the Rule of Necessity*, an elected or appointed Library Commissioner to deliberate and vote on any matter involving his or her financial or personal interest or that of his or her employer, that person shall publicly disclose the nature and extent of such interest.
- C. <u>Dual Employment</u>. No elected or appointed Library Commissioner shall engage in employment with, or render services for, any person or entity which has business transactions with any public body of the city, without first making full disclosure of the nature and extent of the employment or services.
- D. When a conflict of interest is determined to exist following disclosure, an elected or appointed Library Commissioner shall be disqualified from participating in the deliberations and voting on the matter.

Section 4. Prohibited Conduct & Conflicts of Interest. All elected and appointed Library Commissioners are prohibited from engaging in the following conduct:

- A. Divulging confidential information to any person not authorized to obtain such information.
- B. Benefiting financially from confidential information.
- C. Representing his or her individual opinion as that of the library or the Commission as a whole.
- D. Misusing library personnel, resources, property, funds, or assets for personal gain or private employment purposes.
- E. Soliciting or accepting a gift or loan of money, goods, services, or other things of value which tend to influence the manner in which the elected or appointed Library Commissioner performs his or her official duties.
- F. Engaging in a business transaction which may cause the elected or appointed Library Commissioner or his or her employer to derive a personal profit or gain or benefit directly or indirectly as a result of his or her official position.
- G. Engaging in employment or rendering services that are incompatible or in conflict with the discharge of his or her official duties or that tend to impair his or her independence of judgment.
- H. Participating in policy making, the result of which potentially benefits him or her or his or her employer.
- I. Participating in contracts, loans, grants, rate-fixing, or issuing permits involving a business entity or non-profit in which he or she has a substantial interest unless:
 - (a) The contract is awarded pursuant to sealed bids, and;
 - (b) The elected or appointed Library Commissioner is not involved directly or indirectly or otherwise refrains from participation in the decision on the award of the contract, and;
 - (c) The Board of Library Commissioners, after reviewing the circumstances, determines the award of the contact would be in the best interest of the library.

Section 5. Disclosure, Contents. Whenever a disclosure is required by this policy, it shall be made in a writing filed with the Library Director on the form attached as Attachment A, entitled *Conflict of Interest and Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement*. Each elected and appointed Library Commissioner will be required to sign the *Conflict of Interest and Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement* upon assuming office, or for current elected and appointed Library Commissioners, as soon as this policy is in effect, as well as annually. A copy of the *Conflict of Interest and Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement* shall be sent to all elected and appointed Library Commissioners no less than annually. In all cases, disclosures shall include:

A. The identity of all persons involved in the interest. This includes family members, organizations in which elected and appointed Library Commissioners or family members are officers, directors, or either directly or indirectly, stockholders or partners, and trusts and estates in which elected and appointed Library Commissioners or family members have a beneficial interest, or for which they act in a fiduciary capacity. Family members include spouses, parents, brothers, sisters, children, nieces, nephews, spouses of brothers, sisters, and children, and spouses' parents, brothers, and sisters.

- B. The source and amount of income or benefit, direct or indirectly derived from the interest that may be considered as resulting from employment, investment or gift. The person required to file a disclosure statement in accordance with the provisions of this policy must verify, in writing, under penalty of perjury, the information in the statement is true and complete as far as he or she knows.
- C. If it is determined that a conflict exists, the affected elected or appointed Library Commissioner shall disclose the conflict on the record at an open meeting, shall recuse himself or herself from participating in the discussion and vote relating to the issue, and shall leave the room while the discussion and vote take place.

Section 6. Duties of the City Attorney. The City Attorney shall examine all disclosure statements filed pursuant to this policy and report to the Library Director any concerns or irregularities that may, in the judgment of the City Attorney require further review. Acceptance of a disclosure statement by the City Attorney shall not constitute approval of the statement.

Section 7. Request for Opinion from the City Attorney. Any elected or appointed Library Commissioner may request that the City Attorney provide an advisory privileged legal opinion addressed to the entire Board of Library Commissioners interpreting the effect or application of this policy generally, on conflicts or potential conflicts, disclosed or undisclosed, or on questions directly relating to the propriety of their conduct or the conduct or possible conflicts of another elected or appointed Library Commissioner in a particular situation. The City Attorney may also identify and make a determination relating to a conflict, disclosed or undisclosed, on his or her own initiative.

Section 8. Policy Enforcement. Following the issuance of an opinion pursuant to Section 7, any request seeking enforcement of this policy shall be presented to the Board of Library Commissioners and Library Director. The Board of Library Commissioners shall have the authority to render a final decision, including but not limited to censure of the Commissioner found to be in violation of this policy.

*The Rule of Necessity applies only in situations where the conflict is acknowledged, and there is no possibility of waiting for a quorum without conflicts to decide the issue at a later date because the matter is an emergency. This doctrine may not be invoked when a non-conflicted quorum is present.

Adopted: March 28, 2017

Attachment A

Conflict of Interest and Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement

I have read and understand this Conflict of Interest Statement. There are no present or potential conflicts of interest other than those listed below. I have and will continue to observe the Conflicts of Interest & Ethical Standards Policy. If in the future, circumstances warrant a disclosure of a conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest situation, I will submit an amended Statement within 10 days of my knowledge of the situation.

Signature	Date
Printed Name	<u> </u>
DISCLOSURES: Please provide a brief explanation of any boards and commissions you are involved with or upon wh current employers, business interests including business or	nich you serve, as well as the names of all



Policy 20-1 Terms of Employment and Collective Bargaining

Pursuant to Title XIII of the Grand Rapids City Charter, the Board of Library Commissioners is authorized to enter into employment contracts and to establish the terms of employment for Library employees. This authority shall include the ratification of collective bargaining agreements between the Library and its unionized employees, as well as the establishment of terms of employment for non-unionized employees.

The Library Director (or his or her designee), shall represent the Board of Library Commissioners for the purpose of collective bargaining negotiation. The Library Director (or his or her designee) shall consult with the board as permitted under the Michigan Open Meetings Act, prior to entering into contract negotiations, and at appropriate intervals during the course of negotiations. The board president is authorized to sign all final collective bargaining agreements and to authorize all terms of employment, once approved by the board.

Employment contracts or terms of employment will be in compliance with the non-discrimination policy established in the Board of Library Commissioners' bylaws and in compliance with law.

Except for the employment contract between the Board of Library Commissioners and the Library Director, the Library Director is responsible for the administration of all employment contracts and terms of employment approved by the board.

Adopted: November 20, 2012



Policy 20-2 Professional Memberships and Training for Library Employees

The Board of Library Commissioners encourages its members and library staff to participate in training and development activities, and to maintain membership in professional organizations related to their work. Toward that goal, the board shall provide funding to the extent that funding is available for the purpose of advancing the professional development of Library staff and board members. Such funding shall be dedicated to the membership of Commissioners and eligible employees in local, state and national organizations; as well as attendance at appropriate workshops, conferences and other training opportunities.

The Library Director shall establish guidelines for the administration of this Policy.

Membership

Upon approval of the Library Director, employees may be eligible to receive full or partial reimbursement for dues paid to professional organizations. Such approval shall be issued in accordance with the guidelines established by the Director under authority of this Policy.

The appointment of any Library employee as an officer or committee member in any professional organization is subject to the approval of the Library Director. Consideration may include the time commitment required by such appointment, as well as expenses anticipated for such appointment. Other factors may be considered, including the relationship of the requested activity to the employee's responsibilities, the availability of funding, and the needs of the organization.

The Library Director shall consult with the board before accepting an appointment to serve as an officer of a statewide or national organization.

Training

Upon approval by the Library Director, employees may be eligible to receive full or partial reimbursement for expenses and time away from work for the purpose of attending training programs, workshops or seminars. In authorizing such attendance, the Library Director may consider the relationship of the requested training to the employee's responsibilities, the availability of funding, and the needs of the organization.

Training and development funds for part-time employees will be determined on an as-needed basis by the Library Director based on the direct relevance of the training for the position, the availability of funding, and the needs of the organization.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 84-1

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: November 26, 2019



Policy 20-3 Tuition Reimbursement Program

The Board of Library Commissioners encourages employees of the library to seek educational opportunities whenever possible. In furtherance of that goal, the board has established the Tuition Reimbursement Program. The Program is intended for the reimbursement of tuition expenses incurred by eligible full-time and part-time employees. The funding level for the Program is dependent on the amount allocated for such purpose by the board for the fiscal year, and may vary from one year to the next. In no event shall any unused fund balance from the Tuition Reimbursement Program be carried over to the subsequent fiscal year. The Library Director shall establish guidelines for the implementation of this policy.

Eligibility for reimbursement shall be at the sole discretion of the Library Director, and in accordance with the guidelines established by the Director under authority of this policy.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 96-1

Adopted: November 20, 2012



Policy 20-4 Employment of Relatives

Except as provided herein, the employment of the following by the Grand Rapids Public Library shall be permitted:

- 1. Otherwise qualified members of a Library employee's household; or
- 2. Otherwise qualified members of a Library employee's immediate family, as defined by the collective bargaining agreement.

Provided however, employment of household members or family members shall not be permitted where, in the judgment of the Library Director a potential for favoritism, or appearance of a conflict of interest may be created.

Employees must notify the Library Director when any change in their household circumstances would render the provisions of this policy applicable.

The Library Director shall establish guidelines for the implementation and enforcement of this Policy. Decisions made by the Library Director pursuant to this Policy are final.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 07-01

Adopted: November 20, 2012



Policy 20-5 Electronic Equipment Use and Access

The Grand Rapids Public Library provides its employees with electronic equipment, such as computers and telephones, for use in the execution of work being performed. The Library Administration reserves the right to monitor the use of Library-supplied access by its employees. The following policy and guidelines govern employees with access to any of the library's computer and telephone equipment and related systems.

Appropriate Use. Systems owned by the library are for use by the employees in the performance of their work. This extends to access provided by the library to all other systems, e.g. email, ILS, Internet, phone system, etc.

Passwords and Access Codes. Employees are responsible for security of their passwords. Passwords should not be posted or discarded where others may find them. Care should be taken in the selection of passwords by avoiding common words, names or numbers. Passwords should be changed periodically and users may be notified when they must change.

Hardware. To ensure compatibility and stability with systems hardware and software, all hardware must be authorized before is can be added to any system, stand alone or networked, e.g., gift components, sound cards, mice, printers, etc. The Information Systems department should be consulted prior to the acquisition of any equipment.

Telephone Equipment. The Library's telephone system and Library provided cellular phones are available for business use. You may use them for personal needs on a limited basis.

Software. In order to prevent the spread of viruses and malicious software and to prevent the use of unlicensed software, all software changes must be authorized in the same manner as Hardware. Unauthorized copies of software may not be made. Staff may not download unauthorized software from the Internet nor install unauthorized software from other media.

Portable Devices. Devices such as laptop, notebook, or smart phone type devices create unique security concerns. No confidential patron or employee information should be transported on these devices without sufficient security to assure privacy of this data. Third party networks should be used with caution to prevent the spread of malicious software.

Email. Work related activities are an appropriate use of email. Personal messages should be kept to a minimum. Discretion should be used in sending messages from the library's servers. Email files must be kept up-to-date and cleared when unwanted or outdated. Any correspondence may be subject to legal discovery or obtained via a Freedom of Information Act request. Illegal use of the system is prohibited. Requests for new accounts must be approved by an Executive staff member. Email is not a secure means of sending messages and can and will be read by those other than the addressee. There is no right to privacy in the use of Library supplied access.

Internet Access. Staff use of the Internet is provided for work related activities. Personal use should be limited to breaks or scheduled lunch periods and must not violate the noted restrictions on Software. The Library reserves the right to request access to personal accounts accessed from Library equipment.

Maintenance. Equipment must be kept free from exposure to liquids and the area around the equipment kept clear of dust and other items which may obstruct air intake or otherwise damage the unit or system. Placing scotch tape or decorative stickers on any computer equipment is prohibited. Any problem with the system must be reported to the Information Systems Department as soon as possible after a problem occurs.

Backups. System software and data backups are done on a regular basis. Staff is responsible for storing data in the proper locations so they may be backed up.

Data. All data stored or maintained on a Library computer or system is owned by the library. If any of this data is knowingly destroyed, the person responsible may be subject to criminal prosecution in addition to dismissal. This extends to any unauthorized access or altering of patron files, bibliographic files, item files, information files, and any other file accessed through the library system or remote access. Files and software created and/or maintained for the library are or become the sole property of the library (this extends to home pages and special scripts).

Privacy/Confidentiality. All non-shared files, although owned by the library, are considered confidential. However, there is no guaranteed right of privacy on systems owned by or connected to the library's systems. Authority for inspecting any system is vested with the Director and his/her designated representatives. Any attempt to access files by network systems personnel (except as may be required to ensure the integrity of the systems or as requested by the Director or his/her designated representatives) or other staff members is prohibited.

Documentation. All configurations, system layouts, system inventories, and other setups will be documented and kept current by the Information Systems staff. Special Authorization for added software, hardware, or access will be documented and maintained.

System Monitoring. To ensure that users are in software license compliance, no unauthorized software has been loaded, to perform diagnostics and for the purpose if assessing usage patterns and compliance with this policy, monitoring will be performed. This information will be treated as confidential and access restricted.

Suspending Access. To ensure safety of equipment and the systems, computer and systems access may be suspended at the discretion of the Director or his/her designee.

Leaving Library Employment. Upon leaving Library employment, access to the system will be terminated on the last day of employment or earlier. Persons leaving the employment of the library may not remove files without first clearing this with Information Systems staff. Information Systems staff is responsible for all reformatting. A form requesting access to the system will be maintained in the employees' personnel file. This form will be sent immediately to the Information Systems area requesting termination of access when the user leaves employment.

Termination. Upon termination (i.e. firing) access will be suspended.

Definition of Computer and Systems. Include but are not limited to:

- All hardware, e.g., workstations, CPUs, monitors, mice, speakers, printers, drives, backup units, CD-ROM players, routers, modems, hubs, etc.;
- All software, e.g., operational system, application, network management, email, metering, screen savers, Internet access and support;
- All information systems and services, e.g., Internet access, CD ROM access, national bibliographic databases, Integrated Library Systems (catalog, circulation, acquisitions, serials, etc), email;
- All wiring, support devices, and furniture attached to or supporting system components, e.g., patch panels, computer or network wiring, jacks, computer desks, screen covers, mouse pads.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 10-1

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: October 14, 2015



Policy 30-1 Library Fees and Fines

Library fees and fines shall be established from time to time by resolution of the Board of Library Commissioners. Each year during the preparation of the budget, the Library Director shall submit a schedule of suggested fees and fines, to be approved by the board. New fees and fines may be proposed at any time during the fiscal year, but no new fee or fine shall be implemented unless first approved by the Board of Commissioners.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 91-1

Adopted: November 20, 2012



Policy 30-2 Fundraising and Development

The Grand Rapids Public Library is authorized to accept donations from members of the public, non-profit groups, corporations and others. The Library Director shall be responsible to account for such donations, and to implement and enforce a policy to ensure such accountability. The Library Director shall present to the Board of Library Commissioners a statement of such donations periodically, and shall not authorize any expenditure of such donations, except with the express approval of the board. Every donation received by the library shall be promptly acknowledged.

Any fundraising or development activities conducted by any Library employee shall be undertaken only at the direction of the Library Director, and shall be consistent with the Mission and Strategic Plan of the Grand Rapids Public Library.

The board authorizes and directs the Library Director to develop and implement guidelines consistent with this policy.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 95-1



Policy 30-3 Purchasing and Contracts

Notwithstanding the expenditure authority granted to the Library Director pursuant to Board Policy 10-4, the following policy authorizes the execution of contracts and purchases as follows:

- 1. Supply, equipment, furnishings and furniture expenditures (\$2,500 or less)
 - a. Prices shall be obtained from three (3) or more sources to determine price and availability. The Business Manager or his/her designated representative may approve purchase of the lowest priced best product, considering all costs for the expected life of the product.
 - b. Should there not be three (3) known sources of the supply or equipment needed, the Business Manager or his/her designated representative shall negotiate and obtain the best price for the product.
- 2. Supply, equipment, furnishings and furniture expenditures (\$2,500 or more)
 - a. Prices shall be obtained from three (3) or more sources to determine price and availability. The Library Director or, in his/her absence, the Business Manager with subsequent approval of the Director, may approve purchase of the lowest priced best product, considering all costs for the expected life of the product.
 - b. Should there not be three (3) known sources of the supply or equipment needed, the Business Manager or his/her designated representative shall negotiate and obtain the best price for the product and obtain approval from the Library Director.
- 3. Supply, equipment, furnishings, and furniture expenditures (\$10,000 or more)
 - a. Formal sealed bids are required for purchases in excess of \$10,000 when specifications of the product are exact. When specifications are not exact, a Request for Proposal (RFP) shall be obtained from three (3) or more sources. The Library Director or, in his/her absence, the Business Manager with subsequent approval of the Director, may approve purchase of the lowest priced best product, considering all costs for the expected life of the product.
 - b. Should it be in the best interests of the library to accept a bid other than the lowest of the best, approval for purchase shall be obtained from the Board of Library Commissioners. Such a request to the library board will be accompanied by supportive documentation.
 - c. Should there not be three (3) known sources of the supply or equipment needed, the Library Director or his/her designated representative shall negotiate and obtain the best price for the product and approval for purchase shall be obtained from the Board of Library Commissioners.

4. Repair work:

a. Prices for non-emergency repair and maintenance shall be obtained from three (3) or more sources to determine price and availability. The Library Director, Business Manager or his/her designated representative may approve purchase from the lowest of the best prices offered. If the Facilities Manager is the designated representative, subsequent approval of the Library Director or Business Manager shall be obtained.

- b. Should there not be three (3) known sources of the repair or maintenance, the Library Director or his/her designated representative shall negotiate and obtain the best price for the service. If there are not three (3) sources and the purchase exceeds \$10,000, approval from the Board of Library Commissioners shall be obtained. Such a request to the library board shall be accompanied by supportive documentation.
- c. When repair work is determined to be an emergency, the Library Director, Business Manager or his/her designated representative may approve purchase of the service from a reliable source. When possible, such purchase shall be made from a source recently determined to have offered the library the best price for a similar repair.

5. Contracts for professional and other services:

- a. Contracts Over \$10,000. Contracts anticipated to be over \$10,000 shall be identified as part of the annual budget package presented to and approved by the Board of Library Commissioners ("the board"). Without further consent or approval of the board, the Library Director and Business Manager are authorized to execute contracts for professional and other services on behalf of the board, provided that the contract amount does not exceed the budgeted amount approved by the board for the purpose specified.
- b. Contracts Under \$10,000. Without consent or approval of the board, the Library Director is authorized to approve and execute contractual agreements in an amount not to exceed \$10,000 on behalf of the board. All contracts so executed will be reported at the first regular meeting of the board following execution of said contract.
- c. Delegation of Authority. The Library Director is further authorized to delegate to the Business Manager the authority to execute contractual agreements in amounts up to \$5,000. Such contracts shall be reported at the first regular meeting of the board following execution of said contract.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 81-2



Policy 40-1 Asset Management

The following shall govern the management of Library assets:

- 1. Land & Buildings. The acquisition, development, or sale of real estate shall be governed by the Real Estate Transactions Policy approved by the Board of Library Commissioners.
- Furniture & Equipment (delegated to the library director and governed by the Purchasing Policy approved by the Board of Library Commissioners). Used computer equipment that has been removed from the inventory may be recycled or offered for sale through the Friends of the Library or other organizations approved by the Board of Library Commissioners.
- 3. Collections (delegated to the library director and governed by the Collection Development Policies approved by the Board of Library Commissioners.) The divestiture or removal of any major collection will require board approval. Gifts and de-accessioned items that have not been added to the collections or are considered to be discarded and in salable condition will be provided to the Friends groups for sale at a designated location in each building and/or at publicly announced sales. In the rare occurrence of the sale of special items/materials these will be sold through the most appropriate public forum for the items or materials.
- 4. Art & Decorative Furniture To the extent possible, the terms of the original gift(s) will be honored as per the Board of Library Commissioner's directive within the City Charter. Some items may be deemed to be an integral part of the historic collections in addition to serving as decorative objects that enhance the architecture and ambiance of the buildings. Items lacking clear provenance and that have been considered to be a part of the Grand Rapids Public Library's permanent collections are considered to be grandfathered. Funds have been expended on these items to insure that they have been carefully moved, cleaned, and in some instances, rebound or reupholstered. In the rare occurrence of the sale of objects of art, these items would need to be handled in a public manner and through the most appropriate public auction house or forum as may be warranted by the object(s).
- 5. Leases & Loans Space may be approved for leasing by the Board of Library Commissioners to non-profit organizations or city departments that are consistent with the mission of the Grand Rapids Public Library.

Objects of art or collections may be loaned for a limited period of time to museums or public organizations where the items will be available for public viewing. These loans may be made for a period not to exceed six months unless otherwise approved by the Board of Library Commissioners. All expenses for packing and shipping to and from the institution borrowing the items will be borne by the borrowing institution. Items loaned must be insured by the borrowing institution and a copy of the proof of insurance to cover the item while in transit and while on display at the borrowing institution provided to the Grand

Rapids Public Library. Under no circumstance may the borrowing institution transfer or loan the object(s) while the object(s) are on loan.

No leases will be made to an individual or individuals, inclusive of equipment, collections, objects of art or decorative furniture, and all other assets of the Grand Rapids Public Library.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 10-2

Adopted: November 20, 2012

Amended: May 28, 2013; January 27, 2015



Policy 40-2 Real Estate Transactions

- 1. Procedure. When the library board determines that there is a need to acquire or dispose of real property interests involving the library, the board will submit a request to the City's Economic Development Office. The request will include the location of the real property; available financial resources, including restrictions and account numbers to which expenses can be charged or revenues deposited; a desired date for the completion of the transaction; the purpose of the transaction; and other such information as the City's Economic Development Office might need to carry out its responsibilities. Any requests which involve the sale or acquisition of real property shall have the approval of the City Manager before being submitted to the City Commission for final approval.
- Transaction Costs. The Library shall pay the cost of acquisition and incidental expenses such as titles searches, appraisals, administration, legal fees and closing costs for real estate transactions conducted pursuant to this Policy.
- 3. Library board approval is required in acquiring, leasing, repurposing, modifying, or disposing of real property interests, rights-of-way, easements, or encroachments involving property used or to be used for Library purposes. The City's Economic Development Office or the City Engineer shall obtain the necessary approvals from the Board of Library Commissioners.
- 4. Price and Terms of Sale. Price terms for the sale, purchase, or lease of real property shall be established by the Board of Library Commissioners, as the department responsible for the management or disposal of the specific property being offered for sale, lease, or needing to be acquired.
- 5. Notice to Board of Library Commissioners. The Library Director shall promptly notify the Board of Library Commissioners of any potential acquisition, disposal, or lease that may affect any real property interest involving the Library.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 81-01

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: April 26, 2016



Policy 40-3 Collection Development

PURPOSE

The Grand Rapids Public Library strives to connect people to the transforming power of knowledge. This policy is designed to support the library's mission and to articulate the scope, responsibilities, and considerations used in the selection and maintenance of all materials for each of our locations.

This policy operates in conjunction with the documents of the American Library Association approved by the Grand Rapids Public Library Board of Library Commissioners:

- The Library Bill of Rights
- Freedom To Read Statement
- Statement on Labels and Rating Systems
- Diversity in Collection Development
- Free Access to Libraries to Minors
- Expurgation of Library Materials
- Evaluating Library Collections
- Challenged Materials
- Restricted Access to Library Materials
- Freedom to View
- Access to Electronic Information, Networks, and Services

COMMUNITY SERVED

Vibrant, exciting, and diverse, Grand Rapids is the second largest city in Michigan, with over 1 million people in the surrounding metropolitan area. The Grand Rapids Public Library has a rich heritage of more than 135 years of service to our urban community. Today, a beautifully renovated central library joins seven regional and neighborhood branches to provide services for city of Grand Rapids citizens. With the addition of a highly utilized web branch, the library serves over one million patrons annually and circulates over 1.6 million books, media, and other items both physically and virtually.

SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES

In response to the needs of our dynamic community, the library aims to provide access to a broad range of resources. The library has a responsibility to act inclusively, rather than exclusively, and our collection represents a diversity of viewpoints, including materials that reflect differing social, cultural, political, and religious views. The collection contains resources in various formats (including print, non-print, and electronically accessible), languages, and comprehension levels. Understanding that technologies are always evolving, the library will continue to assess and evaluate the usage and need of all formats. While the library's collection includes popular materials, it is the goal of the Grand Rapids Public Library to provide a balanced, deep, and enduring collection of materials for the Grand Rapids community.

Our collection includes resources:

- To meet the information needs of our community
- To enrich, entertain, and inspire
- To help people learn new skills, better their education, and improve literacy
- To increase social awareness and community involvement

ACCESS

The library does not restrict access to reading, viewing, or listening to its materials based on age and provides equal access to all library resources for all library users. To ensure equitable access to different materials, the library does restrict circulation of reference materials and may establish different loan periods for select materials.

Given the diversity of the community, the library seeks to acquire the broadest range of materials within budgetary constraints. Due to the varied nature of the collection, patrons may find that not all materials will be suitable for all audiences.

Parents or legal guardians have the right and responsibility to determine what is appropriate for their own children. The library encourages parents to be involved in their child's use of the library and to guide them in choosing suitable materials. Final responsibility for what a child checks out on his or her library card is left to the parent. The library does not stand in place of parents (*in loco parentis*).

Due to limited space, security, and preservation concerns, some items may be placed in designated storage areas of the library. All items in the storage areas are available for patron access, but must be retrieved by a staff person.

LABELING

The library collection will be organized, cataloged, and marked for the primary purpose of helping people find the materials they want. The library does not label, alter, or shield materials due to the nature of the content or imagery. The library does not add or remove evaluative labels from library materials, such as MPAA ratings on some motion pictures, or language ratings on some audio materials.

For more information on labeling of library collections, see ALA Labeling Statement.

RESPONSIBILITY

Final responsibility and authority for the collection rests with the director, who operates within the framework of policies adopted by the Grand Rapids Public Library Board of Library Commissioners. Direct responsibility for the selection, maintenance, and weeding of materials is delegated to professional librarians. The transfer or disposition of sizable or special collections will require board approval upon recommendation(s) from the director.

SELECTION OF MATERIALS

Under the parameters of the annually established materials budget, librarians select materials for the collection. Each type of material is considered in terms of its own value and in relation to its audience. An item will not necessarily be judged against all criteria and no one standard applies in all cases and at all times. Librarians use various tools to help guide their selection process, including review media, trade publications, publishers' catalogs, and usage statistics. Additionally, materials may be added based on patron requests and donations.

The following criteria is to be used when adding new or gift items to the collection:

- Relevance to the present and potential needs of the community
- Accuracy, timeliness, currency, and validity
- Current or historical significance of author or subject
- Suitability of the physical form for library use
- Public demand and/or local interest
- Comparison with other available titles in existing collection
- Cost
- Scarcity of materials on the subject
- Comprehension and depth of treatment
- Diversity of viewpoint
- Literary style, importance, or originality
- Cultural significance and critical acclaim
- Sustained interest

COLLECTIONS WITH ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATION

Grand Rapids History and Special Collections

The library collects, preserves, and makes accessible for research purposes numerous historical materials. The scope of the different collection areas vary, as outlined below.

Grand Rapids, Michigan History and Genealogy

This area is composed primarily of books and periodicals with a specific focus on Grand Rapids and Western Michigan History and Genealogy, including materials that document migration to the Grand Rapids and Western Michigan region. General materials on Michigan, Great Lakes and Upper Midwest History and Genealogy are also collected to a lesser degree.

Archival Collections

The archival collections are composed of original materials of a documentary nature centered on the Greater Grand Rapids area. This may include the following, but is not restricted to; individual and organizational records, diaries, church records, maps, visual images of various formats, oral histories, scrapbooks, and Grand Rapids and surrounding area newspapers.

The library generally does not collect materials that are considered realia, or three dimensional objects. Realia or objects are passed on to other institutions with the expertise to collect and house such materials. The archives also does not collect the official records of the City of Grand Rapids. Such records are kept with the City Archives and Records Center.

Furniture Design

This collection is composed primarily of books, periodicals, and folios with a specific concentration on furniture history, design, and related decorative arts.

Rare Books

This collection is composed of a variety of different titles identified as materials of considerable value. The value is determined either by the monetary value or the content of each individual title. The particular strengths of this collection include Americana, American History, Angle Fishing, and Fine Arts.

Materials for Children, Teens, and their Caregivers

The library collects materials for children and teens from birth through high school. The collection, especially at the Main Library, is heavily used by area schools, and materials are purchased to meet the needs of students and teachers, in keeping with the role of a public library. Items are purchased

in a variety of formats, with an eye toward currency, age level suitability, and a general balance of the subject collection. The library collects juvenile materials in a variety of international languages. Branch juvenile and teen collections are primarily recreational reading and entertainment, with limited curriculum support materials due to space constraints.

Government Documents

The library is a selective depository for United States government (federal) publications and also makes state and local documents available to citizens. The library has been a depository since 1876 and it offers many valuable historical documents. Government documents are available in paper, CD-ROM, microform, and electronically.

International Languages

The library collects materials in numerous languages for all ages. The library is committed to developing and maintaining international language collections which meet the needs of a changing Grand Rapids population, as well as materials in support of those patrons learning an additional language. City demographics and U.S. census information are factors in determining which languages are collected.

Textbooks

The library does not generally collect textbooks. A textbook may be added to the collection if it is the best information on a particular subject. Textbooks will not be purchased based on the need of a particular educational course.

Periodicals

The library subscribes to hundreds of current periodicals and newspapers available on paper, microfilm, and microfiche. The library also retains many older titles which are no longer received or which have ceased publication.

COLLECTION MAINTENANCE AND WEEDING

The circulating collection of the library is not intended to be archival. In order to ensure that the collection remains relevant, in good physical condition, and continues to meet the needs of our diverse community, items will be evaluated on an ongoing basis for potential withdrawal. Due to space constraints, some items may be moved to storage areas of the library, relocated to another branch location, or given to the Friends of the Library. Under certain circumstances, some items or collections may be relocated to other institutions.

Materials are subject to removal if:

- Items are worn, stained, or damaged beyond repair
- Items are out of date, contain inaccurate data, or are not historically significant
- Newer, more current, or more comprehensive resources are available
- A more desirable format of the content is available
- The usage of the item is low
- Duplicates of the item exist within the collection
- The collection is limited in space
- Items removed from the collection are given to the Friends of the Library and may be sold in support of the library.

PATRON SUGGESTIONS

Suggestions are welcome and often provide valuable information about community interests and unmet collection needs of patrons. All suggestions are assessed with the same selection criteria as other items added to the collection.

The library provides a Suggest a Title Form.

DONATIONS / GIFTS

The library welcomes donations of materials or money to be used toward the purchase of materials. Donated items are accepted with the understanding that the same selection criteria used in the purchase of new items, will also be applied to donated items. Donated items are not automatically added to the library's collection. Items not added to the collection may be given to the Friends of the Library and may be sold in support of the library. The library can not appraise gift materials for tax purposes.

Monetary donations in the form of memorials or honoraria are also accepted and when so designated are managed through the Grand Rapids Public Library Foundation.

Please see Donation/Gift Form.

Please see our donation guidelines for current information about donating specific items to the library.

RECONSIDERATION OF MATERIALS

The library believes that each patron has the right to read, listen, or view any item of their choosing. The collection includes resources that range widely in subject and treatment, including complex and controversial issues that may be unpopular or unorthodox in opinion. Evaluation of items included in the collection pertain to the entire work, not just individual parts of the work. Language, situations, or subjects, which may be offensive to some community members, do not disqualify materials, which, in their entirety, are judged to be of value.

If a Grand Rapids Public Library patron is concerned by or questions the inclusion of a particular item in the library's collection, he or she may fill out a Statement of Concern Form at any library branch. All completed forms will be directed to the library director, initiating a review process. The patron will receive a written response regarding the concern.

The board authorizes and directs the library director to develop and implement guidelines consistent with this policy.

RELATED DOCUMENTS

Suggest a Title Form Donation / Gift Form Statement of Concern Form

ALA DOCUMENTS SUPPORTED BY THE GRAND RAPIDS PUBLIC LIBRARY:

- The Library Bill of Rights
- Freedom To Read Statement
- Statement on Labels and Rating Systems
- Diversity in Collection Development

- Free Access to Libraries to Minors
- Expurgation of Library Materials
- Evaluating Library Collections
- Challenged Materials
- Restricted Access to Library Materials
- Freedom to View
- Access to Electronic Information, Networks, and Services

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 95-4

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: October 14, 2015



Policy 40-4
Gifts to the Library: Acceptance and Deaccession

The Board of Library Commissioners will have sole authority for the transfer of gifts made to the Grand Rapids Public Library (cash or materials).

Gifts transferred by the Grand Rapids Public Library to other organizations will take into account the spirit of the gift(s) and shall be in compliance with the law. The board shall seek advice from counsel for the transfer of gifts not provided for in other board policies. The terms of transfer of materials will be maintained.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 97-2

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: November 26, 2019



Policy 40-5 Smoke- and Vape-Free Facility and Grounds

The Board of Library Commissioners of the City of Grand Rapids declares all Library facilities and grounds to be smoke-free and vape-free.

This policy applies to all individuals including employees, clients, contractors, and visitors. Violation of this policy is a municipal civil infraction subject to fine.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 40-5

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: November 26, 2019



Policy 40-6 Meeting Room Policy

Library facilities shall be used for regular library programming and for other uses as outlined below and approved by the Board of Library Commissioners. The Library will not discriminate in the use of its facilities based upon race, religion, color, creed, national origin, gender or other criteria prohibited by law.

- The primary intent of Library facilities is to implement regular Library programming.
- The sponsored and administered activities of the library and its affiliated organizations shall have priority in determining the use of Library facilities.
- Permitting use of Library facilities does not constitute endorsement, by the library, of the
 organization, the goals, objectives or activities of the organization, or the content of any
 communications made by the organization.

The Library Director shall establish procedures to implement this policy.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 82-1



Policy 40-7 Library Hours

Library hours shall be set from time to time by Resolution of the Board of Library Commissioners.

If a change in library hours is necessary, the Library Director may, at his or her discretion, authorize the temporary closure of any branch, or may temporarily amend the hours of any branch without prior approval of the Board of Library Commissioners, provided that such closure or change in hours is necessary due to an emergency, building maintenance or repair, or other extenuating circumstance.

The board president will be promptly notified of such closure or change in Library hours. In absence of the president, the vice president will be notified.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 88-1

Adopted: November 20, 2012 Amended: November 26, 2019



Policy 50-1

Circulation Records: Library Privacy

It is the policy of the Board of Library Commissioners of the City of Grand Rapids to preserve the confidentiality and privacy of the circulation records of its patrons to the fullest extent permitted by law. To that end, the circulation records of the library shall be released or disclosed only as provided for in this policy or as otherwise required by law.

DEFINITIONS

- A. NON-IDENTIFYING RECORDS: Any record or data pertaining to the circulation of Library materials in general which does not identify a person may be released or disclosed as provided in the Michigan Freedom of Information Act (Act No. 442 of P.A. of 1976, being MCLA §§15.231 to 15.246).
- B. CONFIDENTIAL RECORDS: Any document, record, or other method of storing information retained by the library that identifies a person as having requested or obtained specific materials from the library is a confidential record which shall not be released or disclosed to any person without the written consent of the person liable for payment or return of the materials identified in the confidential record unless a court orders such release or disclosure after notice and hearing as provided in the Library Privacy Act (MCLA 397.601 to 397.605).

2. REQUEST FOR CIRCULATION RECORDS

Any employee who receives a request, subpoena, court order, or other legal process to release or disclose any library circulation record or material relating to confidential records or non-identifying records shall notify the Library Director or the Director's authorized subordinate.

- A. REQUESTS FOR NON-IDENTIFYING RECORDS
 - The Library Director shall consult with, and follow the advice of the City Attorney concerning requests for the release or disclosure of non-identifying records as defined above.
- B. REQUESTS FOR CONFIDENTIAL RECORDS
 - Authorized Circulation personnel shall deny, in writing, all requests for the release or disclosure of confidential records unless he/she has in his/her possession 1) a valid court order as determined by the City Attorney, or 2) the written consent to such release or disclosure of the person identified in the confidential record requested and authorized Circulation personnel is satisfied as to the authenticity of the consent. Authorized Circulation personnel, in his/her discretion, either may require the person requesting the release or disclosure of the confidential record to secure the written consent of the person identified in that record or may obtain that consent directly from the person identified.

3. ELECTRONIC NOTIFICATION

Because of the provisions outlined in this policy and the Michigan Privacy Act, the library does not use electronic notification to notify patrons (including children for whom a patron is

the legal guardian) of overdue materials or materials requested for loan unless the patron requests this service.

4. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

Any questions or problems relating to the subject of the confidentiality of library circulation records, or their possible release or disclosure, not specifically covered by this policy shall be referred to the Library Director who shall handle them as he/she deems appropriate, consistent with the spirit of this policy.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 83-1



Policy 50-2

Public Records: Freedom of Information

It is the policy of the Board of Library Commissioners of the City of Grand Rapids to facilitate the disclosure of public records sought under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), being MCL 15.231 et. seq.

Any written request for public records made under the Freedom of Information Act shall be promptly forwarded to the Library Director for response. The Library Director or his or her designee shall respond to the request within five (5) days, as required by the statute, or shall forward the request to the City Attorney's office for response pursuant to the City's Administrative Policy on Freedom of Information.



Policy 60-1 Patron Rules and Responsibilities

The Grand Rapids Public Library welcomes everyone to use the library and its resources. In order to maintain a clean, safe, and comfortable environment for our patrons and staff, we ask that everyone in library buildings or property adhere to the following rules and responsibilities:

- Obey all local, state and federal laws.
- Follow library policies and procedures about the use of library materials, services and computers.
- All bags and other containers must fit completely under a library chair.
- Wheeled vehicles, unless needed by persons with disabilities or to transport children, are not allowed in library buildings.
- No solicitation or panhandling.
- Do not bother or willfully annoy other people.
- Refrain from loud or rowdy behavior, or creating or participating in a disturbance such as a physical or verbal fight or altercation.
- Do not use profane, obscene, or injurious language.
- Do not display obscene materials or images.
- Parents and other adults accompanying minors are responsible for ensuring that the minors follow the library's policies and procedures. The library should not be used in place of appropriate child care.
- Keep food and beverages in designated areas. All beverages must be covered.
- Smoking, vaping, or the use, or display of related products is not allowed.
- No loitering. Patrons may not remain on library property after being told to leave by a staff member.
- No trespassing. This includes being in library buildings when they are not open to the public or going into non-public areas.
- Be respectful of library property and materials. Do not damage, vandalize, tamper with or improperly remove library property or property that does not belong to you.
- No public intoxication. The use or possession of alcoholic beverages is not allowed, except with the approval of the library director.
- Proper attire, including, but not limited to, shirt and shoes, is required.
- Patrons with inadequate personal hygiene that interferes with the use of the library by others will be asked to leave.
- No sleeping in the library.

Any person who does not adhere to these rules and responsibilities may be asked to leave library property, be denied library privileges, or be banned from the library. Violation of local, state, or federal laws may result in criminal prosecution.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 12.7 Adopted: November 20, 2012

Amended: November 26, 2019



Policy 60-2 Internet Access

No user will be allowed to display, exhibit or disseminate obscene or sexually explicit matter to minors as prohibited by Michigan law. Specifically, the library complies with MCL 379.601-606 entitled "The Library Privacy Act" that does not allow persons under 18 years of age to view "obscene or sexually explicit matter that is harmful to minors" and with MCL 722.671-679 entitled "Disseminating, Exhibiting, or Displaying Sexually Explicit Matter to Minors". The Library does not have private Internet viewing facilities. All computers with access to the Internet are available to minors and open to view by minors.

The Library provides classes to teach children and their parents how to use and safely navigate the Internet. Although the library will monitor behavior, it is ultimately the parent's or guardian's responsibility to determine what library resources are appropriate for their minor children.

The Internet is a vast network of computer networks linking millions of computers around the world. The Internet is a dynamic environment with the content and format of information accessed from these networks constantly changing. Its resources provide unprecedented opportunities to expand the scope of information available to users. However, there is no regulation of its content.

The Grand Rapids Public Library does not control the availability of information links that often change rapidly and unpredictably. Not all sources on the Internet provide accurate, complete, or current information. Users need to be good information consumers, questioning the validity of the information.

The Collection Management Policy of the Grand Rapids Public Library supports access to materials on all subjects that serve the needs or interests of its users regardless of the user's age. This pertains to the Internet no less than it does to the more traditional sources of information in libraries. The Internet permits users access to information that some may deem inappropriate, but the Grand Rapids Public Library does not deny or limit access to information except as required by law.

Also, the Grand Rapids Public Library assumes no responsibility for any damages, direct or indirect, arising from use of its WWW Server or from its connections to other Internet services through our service provider.

Cross Reference: Rescinded Policy 95-3